IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

**SWN Production Company, LLC and
Statoil USA Onshore Properties Inc.,
now known as Equinor USA Onshore
Properties Inc.,**

**SCA EFiled: Dec 21 2023
04:04PM EST
Transaction ID 71677914**

Petitioners,

vs.) No. 23-547

Mason Louis Cottrell,

Respondent.

**Lower Court: Circuit Court of Ohio County West Virginia
Case No. CC-35-2019-C-159**

**BRIEF OF PETITIONERS
SWN PRODUCTION COMPANY, LLC
AND STATOIL USA ONSHORE PROPERTIES INC.
N/K/A EQUINOR USA ONSHORE PROPERTIES INC.**

**Ramonda C. Marling (W. Va Bar No 6927)
Lewis Gianola PLLC
Post Office Box 1746
Charleston, West Virginia 25326
rmarling@lewisgianola.com
(304) 345-2000

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The Trial Court erred in holding that the provisions of W. Va. Code §37-1-2 applied to the arbitration agreement set forth in the Lease;
2. The Trial Court erred in holding that the arbitration agreement set forth in the Lease was unenforceable;
3. The Trial Court erred in holding that the provisions of W. Va. Code §37-1-2 applied to the delegation clause set forth in the Lease;
4. The Trial Court erred in holding that the delegation clause set forth in the Lease was unenforceable;
5. The Trial Court erred in holding that the provisions of W. Va. Code §37-1-2 were mandatory rather than permissive;
6. The Trial Court erred in denying the motion to compel arbitration of claims arising under the Lease;
7. The Trial Court erred in implicitly holding that Plaintiff was not bound by the arbitration agreement and the delegation clause set forth in the Lease under estoppel, third-party beneficiary and principal-agent principles;
8. The Trial Court erred in implicitly holding that the provisions of the Uniform Trust Code, W. Va. Code §44D-1-101 *et seq.* (“UTC”) did not supersede W. Va. Code §37-1-2 with regard to the Lease, the arbitration provision set forth in the Lease and/or the delegation clause set forth in the Lease;
9. The Trial Court erred in holding that Plaintiff had the unquestionable right to disaffirm the Lease;

10. The Trial Court erred in holding that Plaintiff had the unquestionable right to disaffirm a contract entered into by the Trustee;

11. The Trial Court erred in holding that the Plaintiff effectively disaffirmed the Lease by filing the underlying civil action;

12. The Trial Court erred in holding that this case is in accord with the principles and rationale underlying *Fitness, Fun & Freedom, Inc. v. Perdue*, 2021 W. Va. Lexis 67, 2021 (memorandum decision);

13. The Trial Court erred in implicitly holding that Plaintiff had not affirmed the Lease by accepting royalty payments under the Lease; and

14. The Trial Court erred in denying Petitioners' *Motion to Alter or Amend* its Order entered on June 21, 2023 pursuant to Rule 59(e) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE¹

This case involves a trust created for the benefit of a minor and is predicated upon the minor's efforts to have certain contracts executed by the Trustee, including an oil and gas lease, declared void under W. Va. Code § 37-1-2², or to otherwise disaffirm the contracts duly executed

¹ Petitioners acknowledge that Rule 10(c)(4) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure calls for a concise statement of the case outlining the procedural history and operative facts. The Statement of the Case is longer than it would otherwise be as this is the second round of appellate review in this matter.

² W. Va. Code § 37-1-2 provides:

If the guardian of any minor, or the committee of any insane person or convict, *think that the interest of the ward or insane person or convict will be promoted by a lease or by a mortgage or by a trust deed upon or by a sale of his estates*, or of an estate in which he is interested with others, infants or adults; or if the trustee of any estate, or any person interested in any estate in trust, *whether he be interested with others or not, think the interest of those for whom the estate is held will be promoted by a lease of the same, mortgage or trust deed upon the same, or a sale thereof*;

by the Trustee upon reaching the age of majority. As set forth below, W. Va. Code § 37-1-2 is wholly inapplicable as the UTC superseded W. Va. Code § 37-1-2 as to trusts in 2011.

Further, the oil and gas lease at issue in this matter contains an arbitration provision with a delegation clause that requires arbitrability to be decided in arbitration, not by a judge in a civil action. The Trial Court erred in denying Petitioners' Motion to Dismiss and Compel Arbitration.

The Trust and the Lease

Respondent Mason Louis Cottrell ("Respondent") was the beneficiary of a trust evidenced by deed dated July 12, 2007, recorded in the Office of the Clerk of the County Commission of Ohio County, West Virginia in Deed Book 778, Page 382, from his mother to his father and defendant in this matter, Louis Cottrell, Jr., as Trustee (hereinafter "Deed" or "Trust"). JA 14-16. It is undisputed that Respondent was a minor at the time of creation of the trust. *See also* JA 44-45. The Deed provides that the Louis Cottrell, Jr., as trustee ("Trustee"), "may grant, convey or

such guardian, committee, trustee, or beneficiary, whether the estate of the minor or insane person or convict, or any of the persons interested, be absolute or limited, and whether there be or be not limited thereon any other estate, vested or contingent, and whether the guardian, committee or trustee, or the minor, insane person, convict, or any of the persons interested, reside in this State or not, *may, for the purpose of obtaining such sale, lease, mortgage or trust deed, file a bill in equity in the circuit court of the county in which the estate proposed to be leased, sold or encumbered by mortgage or trust deed or some part thereof may be, stating plainly all of the estate, real and personal, belonging to such infant or insane person or convict, or so held in trust, and all of the facts calculated to show the propriety of the sale, lease, mortgage, or trust deed. The bill shall be verified by the oath of the plaintiff; and the infant or insane person or convict, or the beneficiaries in such trust, when not plaintiffs, and all others interested, shall be made defendants. The word "lease" as used in this article shall include any mining or timber lease or any lease of any profit in land, and the word "sale" shall include the sale of any undivided interest, or any part of the corpus of land, or anything in or growing upon land.*

W. Va. Code § 37-1-2. JA 338-339 (emphasis supplied).

incur debt on said land for the benefit of Mason Louis Cottrell.” JA 15.

As alleged by Respondent, “[t]he defendant, as Trustee for Mason Louis Cottrell, entered into numerous oil and gas leases, amendments, pipeline agreements and other mineral related transactions regarding the Respondent’s property.” JA 45. More specifically, the Trustee entered into a Paid-Up Oil and Gas Lease (“Lease”) with Chesapeake Appalachia, LLC (“Chesapeake”) dated March 10, 2011, that was later partially assigned to SWN Production Company, LLC (“SWN”) on July 1, 2014 and to Statoil USA Onshore Properties Inc., now known as Equinor USA Onshore Properties Inc. (“Equinor”) on April 20, 2012. JA 91-94; JA 105-116; JA 99-104. As such, it is undisputed that the Trustee, not Respondent, entered into business transactions on behalf of the Trust, of which Respondent was a beneficiary.

The Lease contains an arbitration clause that provides “[a]rbitration shall be the exclusive remedy and cover all disputes, including but not limited to, the formation, execution, validity and performance of the Lease and Order of Payment.” JA 93. There is no dispute that during the pendency of the Trust, SWN and Equinor performed under the Lease and made corresponding payments to the Trust through the Trustee.

The First Complaint

Respondent originally filed a Complaint against Defendant Cottrell asserting claims against him in his capacity as Trustee. JA 9-21. The Complaint alleged, for example, “[a]s Trustee, the defendant Louis Cottrell, Jr., was to act in a fiduciary capacity and was to act in the best interest of Mason Louis Cottrell.” JA 10, ¶ 7. In Count II of the Complaint, Respondent asserted a breach of fiduciary duty claim against Defendant Cottrell. *See e.g.* JA 11, ¶ 11. (“[t]he defendant... failed to well and truly and faithfully perform all of his duties as Trustee...”). Default

judgment was entered against Defendant Cottrell on August 7, 2019, and the Court held that “all allegations set forth in Respondent’s Complaint are to be taken as true and admitted.” JA 26. The Trial Court entered a second Order on August 19, 2019, granting specific performance and directing the Trustee to convey the property to Respondent. JA 27-30. In so doing, the Trial Court noted that “[t]he aforesaid Deed did not convey the Respondent’s property to the defendant individually but as ‘Trustee’ for the Respondent Mason Louis Cottrell.” JA 28, ¶ 5.

SWN’s Royalty Payments to Respondent

In January of 2021, Megan Brogan, a tax advisor with The Highlands, contacted SWN’s Owner Relations Support Team on behalf of Respondent to effectuate a transfer in ownership of the royalty account and provided the necessary documentation to SWN. JA 492, ¶ 7. The Lease contains a successors clause: “[a]ll rights, duties, and liabilities herein benefit and bind Lessor and Lessee and their heirs, successors, and assigns.” JA 93. SWN began tendering royalty payments directly to Respondent as of June 25, 2021 pursuant to the successors clause of the Lease. JA 492, ¶ 8. As of June 28, 2023, Respondent accepted and negotiated royalty payments tendered to him by SWN in the amount of \$72,128.60. *Id.*, ¶ 9.

The Amended Complaint

Following entry of default judgment against the Trustee, Respondent moved to amend his Complaint to include claims against additional defendants, including SWN and Equinor. JA 44-64 and JA 31-36. The Amended Complaint continues to include unchanged allegations against Defendant Cottrell. JA 44-64. *See also* JA 33, ¶ 5 (stating that “the proposed amended complaint shall not assert new or additional claims” against Defendant Cottrell). The Motion to Amend was granted on January 9, 2020. JA 37-38.

The Amended Complaint continues to assert that Defendant Cottrell “failed to well and truly and faithfully perform all of his duties as Trustee...” and “breached his fiduciary duties as Trustee....” JA 47, ¶ 21. It further asserts that Trustee entered into transactions with various entities with regard to Trust property for, or related to, mineral production. JA 45, ¶ 8. In the Amended Complaint, Respondent specifically alleged that, by an Assignment dated April 20, 2012, Defendant Equinor was assigned an interest in the Chesapeake Lease between Trustee and Defendant Chesapeake Appalachia, LLC’s (“Chesapeake”). JA 54, ¶ 67. Respondent further alleged that “any and all rights and interests obtained in Respondent’s Property by Defendant SWN, by and through Defendant Chesapeake is void and/or provided no actual rights against Respondent’s Property.” JA 58, ¶ 94. Although not specifically alleged in the Amended Complaint, SWN was assigned an interest in the Chesapeake Lease and this assignment is recorded in Ohio County, West Virginia at Deed Book 884, Page 289. JA 105-116.

Importantly, Respondent concedes in the Second Amended Complaint that the Trustee, not the Respondent, contracted with Chesapeake (JA 48-49, ¶ 30-33) and SWN³ (JA 55 at ¶¶ 74-77) and that the Trustee had a fiduciary duty to act in Respondent’s best interest. JA 45.

Moreover, Respondent does **not** allege that the Defendants failed to abide by the terms of the contracts negotiated and executed by the Trustee during the existence of the Trust. JA 44-64.

As against Petitioners, the Amended Complaint essentially asserts that the Lease is unenforceable because a memorandum of lease⁴ was not recorded and that the Lease and Pipeline

³ The Trustee and SWN entered into a Term Pipeline Option and Right of Way Agreement (“Pipeline Agreement”) dated October 20, 2017. JA 55 ¶ 74. Thus, SWN holds a partial interest in the Lease as an assignee of Chesapeake and is also party to the Pipeline Agreement. The Pipeline Agreement does **not** contain an arbitration provision.

⁴ The Trial Court’s June 21, 2023 Order does not address this issue.

Agreement are void because Court approval was not obtained pursuant to W. Va. Code §37-1-2. JA 56-57, ¶¶ 83-87.

The First Motion to Dismiss/Compel Arbitration

The Lease contains an arbitration agreement with a delegation clause as follows:

ARBITRATION. In the event of a disagreement between Lessor and Lessee concerning this Lease or the associated Order of Payment, performance thereunder, or damages caused by Lessee's operations, the resolution of all such disputes shall be determined by arbitration in accordance with the rules of the American Arbitration Association. Arbitration shall be the exclusive remedy and cover all disputes, including but not limited to, the formation, execution, validity and performance of the Lease and Order of Payment. All fees and costs associated with the arbitration shall be borne equally by Lessor and Lessee.

JA 93.

Petitioners filed a Motion to Dismiss and Compel Arbitration based upon the arbitration clause contained in the Lease executed by the Trustee. JA 84-139. In response, Respondent argued that the Lease was void for failure to comply with W. Va. Code §37-1-2, a statute dealing with the sale, mortgage or lease of property held for a minor by a guardian or trustee. JA 152-161. By Order entered September 1, 2020, the Trial Court granted the Defendants' Motions to Compel Arbitration.^{5, 6} JA 266-273. The Trial Court found, based upon the allegations in the Amended Complaint, "[P]laintiff asserts that the *entire contractual relationship* was void" JA 272 (emphasis supplied). Specifically, based upon the allegations in the Amended Complaint, the Trial

⁵ Other defendants separately filed motions to dismiss and compel arbitration.

⁶ In granting the Motion to Compel Arbitration, the Trial Court indicated that it "abhors the result that the law requires in this case. . . . the law of arbitration is anti-consumer and denies citizens their right to inexpensively and expeditiously access the Courts in this State and seek redress by a jury of their peers. (Why pay overpay (sic) three arbitrators when you have one judge for free?) The Court invites Plaintiff to appeal this decision." JA 273, footnote 3.

Court found that “[b]ecause Respondent’s claims go to the overall existence of a contract, the doctrine of severability requires this Court to presume that a valid arbitration agreement was formed by the parties.” JA 272.

The First Appeal (Cottrell I)

During the pendency of the Motion to Dismiss and Compel Arbitration (and prior to entry of the Order granting the same), Chesapeake filed for bankruptcy and filed a Notice of Suggestion of Bankruptcy in Trial Court on June 30, 2020. JA 250-252. Respondent appealed the Trial Court’s Order compelling arbitration. JA 287-306. This Court vacated the Order compelling arbitration based solely upon its determination that the Trial Court’s Order was entered in violation of the automatic bankruptcy stay and remanded for further proceedings. JA 327-329.

Importantly, this Court took no issue with the Trial Court’s substantive ruling as to arbitrability. *Id.*

Proceedings on Remand

On May 2, 2023, Respondent filed *Respondent’s Supplemental Memorandum in Opposition to Motions to Dismiss and Compel Arbitration*. (“Supplemental Opposition”). In an obvious attempt to correct prior missteps and without amending the allegations in the Amended Complaint, Respondent argued for the first time (i) that he “specifically and separately severs and challenges the arbitration clause, including the delegation provision contained therein, (“arbitration clause”) contained in the Chesapeake Lease” (JA 310) and (ii) that he disaffirmed⁷ the arbitration clause set forth in the Lease (a contract made by the Trustee) upon attaining the age

⁷ Respondent did not raise his disaffirmance argument at the Trial Court level prior to filing his Supplemental Opposition, but had raised it in Cottrell I.

of majority. JA 316-319. Confoundingly, Respondent cited a case in which a minor forged his parent's signature upon a waiver of liability form at a trampoline park and later disaffirmed "his own" contract upon reaching majority in support of his disaffirmance argument. JA 317-318 (citing *Fitness, Fun & Freedom, Inc. v. Perdue*, 2021 W. Va. LEXIS, 67). At no point did Respondent amend or seek to amend the Amended Complaint to make these new allegations.

Petitioners filed a Supplemental Reply (JA 337-346) arguing, among other things, that (i) West Virginia's enactment of the UTC (W. Va. Code §44-51 *et seq.*) made that statute the controlling authority in West Virginia regarding trusts, (JA 340), (ii) even if W. Va. Code 37-1-2 were somehow applicable, it applies to an entire transaction (for the sale, mortgage or lease of property) and not an isolated arbitration/delegation clause, (JA 339); (iii) Respondent was incapable of disaffirming a contract made by a Trustee having contractual capacity, particularly based upon case law where a minor disaffirmed the minor's own contract based upon lack of contractual capacity, and (iv) Respondent became the counterparty to the Trust's Lease upon termination of the Trust and that the Respondent further acknowledged and ratified the same by acceptance of royalty payments. JA 342-344.

The Trial Court's Order and the Motion to Alter or Amend

By Order entered June 21, 2023, the Trial Court denied the Motion to Dismiss and Compel Arbitration. JA 964-975. Respondent filed a Motion to Alter or Amend (JA 572-598) which the Trial Court denied (JA 714) and this appeal followed.

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This case involves three fundamental concepts that were misapplied below.

First, it is black letter arbitration law that an attack on an entire contract, as opposed to a narrow attack on an arbitration clause itself, is a question that goes to arbitration under the severability doctrine. *Bayles v. Evans*, 243 W. Va. 31, 42-44, 842 S.E.2d 235, 246-48 (2020) (under doctrine of severability, challenges that go to the overall existence of a contract go to an arbitrator). Stated differently, an independent attack on a delegation clause must go to the original formation of the delegation clause. *K.F.C. v. Snap, Inc.*, 2021 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 108695, 7, fn 3 (S.D. Ill. 2021).

Notwithstanding Respondent's negligible attention to the severability doctrine claiming he "specifically and separately" challenged the arbitration clause, it is clear that the statutory argument made by Respondent and adopted by the Trial Court necessarily requires an attack on the entire contract and otherwise fails to mount a legitimate challenge to formation of the delegation clause. First, the Trial Court purported to use W. Va. Code §37-1-2 to void an entire Lease that contained an arbitration clause. This is necessarily true because even *if* Section 37-1-2 is applicable, and even *if* it is mandatory – which it is not – the express language of the statute applies to transactions (*i.e.*, entire contracts) implicating a minor's interests in real estate. Nothing in that statute requires, much less even contemplates, court approval of an arbitration clause or a delegation clause in isolation. Accordingly, W. Va. Code §37-1-2 contains no language that could be interpreted to require that a trustee obtain court approval of an arbitration clause or delegation clause under the severability doctrine, an attack on the entire contract must be resolved in arbitration.

A similar argument exists with respect to the Trial Court’s use of “minor disaffirmance” case law to void the delegation clause of the arbitration agreement. As set forth below, and notwithstanding that minor disaffirmance has no relevance to a contract made by a Trustee with full legal capacity to contract on behalf of the Trust, a contract by a minor is voidable, not void. *Fitness, Fun* at 7. As a result, a minor’s exercise of the right of disaffirmance is retroactive only upon reaching the age of majority. While a minor can assert disaffirmance to render a voidable contract void, that is not the same thing as attacking the original formation of a delegation clause in an arbitration agreement. Indeed, the contract of a minor may also be ratified (*Id*), which necessarily means their subsequent disaffirmance does not equate with lack of formation of an agreement to arbitrate at the inception of the contract. Notwithstanding this Court’s opinion in *Fitness, Fun, & Freedom, Inc. v. Perdue*, 2021 W. Va. LEXIS 67 (2021), in which no one raised the fact that retroactive disaffirmance of a voidable contract does not attack formation of the delegation clause in the first instance, the Trial Court erred in finding that Respondent properly challenged the delegation clause.

Second, W. Va. Code §37-1-2 does not support the Respondent’s arguments or the Trial Court’s decision. The Legislature’s passage of the UTC superseded and abrogated the trust provisions in W. Va. Code §37-1-2 as to trusts. The UTC expressly applies to this matter and does not require Court approval for the general exercise of a trustee’s powers. W. Va. Code § 44D-8-815.

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