IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

NO. 23-547

SCA EFiled: Jan 29 2024
10:54AM EST
Transaction ID 71893036

SWN PRODUCTION COMPANY, LLC
and STATOIL USA ONSHORE PROPERTIES, INC.,
now known as EQUINOR USA ONSHORE
PROPERTIES, INC.,

Petitioners,

v.

On Appeal from the
Circuit Court of Ohio County
(Case No. 2019-C-159)

MASON LOUIS COTTRELL,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT MASON LOUIS COTTRELL

ANTHONY I. WERNER, ESQ.

W. Va. Bar ID #5203

JOSEPH J. JOHN, ESQ.

W. Va. Bar ID #5208

JOHN & WERNER LAW OFFICES, PLLC

Board of Trade Building, STE 200

80 - 12th Street

Wheeling, WV 26003

Telephone: (304) 233-4380

Fax: (304) 233-4387

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

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Trial Court correctly denied Petitioners’ motion to send this case into arbitration.

The core of this case is West Virginia Code §37-1-2--its purpose, its requirements, and its continuing vitality despite the enactment of the West Virginia *Uniform Trust Code*. The arbitration dispute depends on it, but so too does the case in the broader sense. There is also an issue of disaffirmation, but the overall critical issue relates to §37-1-2.

West Virginia Code §37-1-2 obligates parties to a proposed transaction respecting a minor’s real property to obtain court approval for the transaction, and not just for the contract granting third-party rights to the minor’s property but for the proceeds that serve as consideration for the contract. The statute has been part of our law for over 100 years, it is mandatory, and maintains its vitality despite all of Petitioners’ arguments, including that it has been superseded by the *Uniform Trust Code*.

A challenge to an arbitration provision must meet strict federal and state legal standards. Following federal law, this Honorable Court has adopted the “severability doctrine” which requires the extraction of the arbitration provision from the overall contract that houses it and which directs a focused judicial analysis of that provision to determine its validity. However, when, as here, there is a contention that the overall contract containing the arbitration provision is non-existent, that it is void *ab initio*, then it is sufficient to challenge the whole contract, including the arbitration provision, on that basis. By challenging the arbitration provision in a dual manner, that is, by both challenging the entire contract as being a device of voided non-existence and by challenging the arbitration provision in a severed and separate fashion, Respondent has clearly satisfied the federal and state “attack” standards.

As to the merits of the attack, it is clear that the consequence of the original transactional parties’ decision to forgo the §37-1-2 court approval process is that the arbitration provision and the whole contract housing it are void *ab initio*. Under our deep, broad, and clear law, they simply do not exist, and for this reason the Petitioners’ appeal fails.

As an associated but yet independent matter, following well-established West Virginia law, law recently discussed by this Honorable Court in *Fitness, Fun, & Freedom, Inc. v. Perdue*,³ by his *Amended Complaint* which was brought promptly upon Respondent attaining majority, any theoretic contractual rights were disaffirmed, negating any notion of arbitration and allowing the Trial Court to address the main issue of §37-1-2’s potency and effect back to the very beginning of the transactional relationships. Petitioners’ arguments against the disaffirmation are unavailing, especially given the fact that the contract housing the arbitration provision is void *ab initio*, and

³ 2021 W. Va. LEXIS 67, 2021 WL 653240 (Memorandum decision).

because, at worst for Respondent, disaffirmation is a factual matter which is to be left for development and resolution before the Trial Court.

IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Respondent submits that under the criteria supplied by R.A.P. 18(a), this case is one for which oral argument is warranted. Moreover, in light of the central issues of this case, especially respecting W.Va. §37-1-2, its relationship with West Virginia's *Uniform Trust Code*, and its ramifications on the analysis a Trial Court must undertake upon an arbitration provision dispute, argument under Rule 20 is deserved, as there are aspects of this matter which are matters of first impression and which certainly are of fundamental public importance.

V. ARGUMENT

A. Standard Of Review.

As Petitioners state, the standard of review here is indeed *de novo*. *Golden Eagle Res., II, L.L.C. v. Willow Run Energy, L.L.C.*, 242 W. Va. 372, 836 S.E.2d 23 (2019). It is further agreed that a *de novo* review involves a "fresh look" at the issues, with no deference to the lower court's ruling. *Blake v. Charleston Area Med. Ctr.*, 201 W. Va. 469, 498 S.E.2d 41 (1997).

B. Challenging An Arbitration Provision.

Conforming with federal law, this Court has firmly observed the guiding standards in analyzing the effectiveness of an arbitration provision. As stated at Syllabus Point 2 in *Bayles v. Evans*, the object of the analysis is to determine two things:

2. "When a trial court is required to rule upon a motion to compel arbitration pursuant to the *Federal Arbitration Act*, 9 U.S.C. §§ 1-307 (2006), the authority of the trial court is limited to determining the threshold issues of (1) whether a valid arbitration agreement exists between the parties; and (2) whether the claims averred by the plaintiff fall within the substantive scope of that arbitration agreement." Syllabus Point 2, *State ex rel. TD Ameritrade, Inc. v. Kaufman*, 225 W. Va. 250, 692 S.E.2d 293 (2010).

243 W. Va. 31, 34, 842 S.E.2d 235, 238 (2020).

With respect to the first objective---determining whether a valid arbitration agreement exists---concepts of state law relating to contractual validity are in play.

[F]ederal and West Virginia courts may refuse to enforce an arbitration agreement "upon such grounds as exist at law or in equity for the revocation of any contract." 9 U.S.C. § 2; see also W. Va. Code § 55-10-8 [2015] An arbitration agreement "is valid, enforceable and irrevocable except upon a ground that exists at law or in equity for the revocation of a contract."). We summarized the law in this way:

Under the *Federal Arbitration Act*, 9 U.S.C. § 2, a written provision to settle by arbitration a controversy arising out of a contract that evidences a transaction affecting interstate commerce is valid, irrevocable, and enforceable, unless the provision is found to be invalid, revocable or unenforceable upon a ground that exists at law or in equity for the revocation of any contract.

Syllabus Point 6, *Brown v. Genesis Healthcare Corp.*, 228 W. Va. 646, 724 S.E.2d 250 (2011). Hence, a state court may assess whether an arbitration agreement is unenforceable under general principles of state law, "such as laches, estoppel, waiver, fraud, duress, or unconscionability." Syllabus Point 9, *Id.* (emphasis added). "To be clear, this list is not exclusive. Misrepresentation, duress, mutuality of assent, undue influence, or **lack of capacity**, if the contract defense exists under general common law principles, then it may be asserted to counter the claim that a . . . provision binds the parties. Even lack of consideration is a defense." *Geological Assessment & Leasing v. O'Hara*, 236 W. Va. 381, 387, 780 S.E.2d 647, 653 (2015).

Parsons v. Halliburton Energy Servs., 237 W. Va. 138, 146, 785 S.E.2d 844, 852 (2016) (bold added).

As *Bayles* observed, a court's examination is to focus on the arbitration provision itself, as opposed to the overall contract generally.

Under the *Federal Arbitration Act*, 9 U.S.C. § 2, and the doctrine of severability, only if a party to a contract explicitly challenges the enforceability of an arbitration clause within the contract, as opposed to generally challenging the contract as a whole, is a trial court permitted to consider the challenge to the arbitration clause.

243 W. Va. 31, 43, 842 S.E.2d 235, 247.

The Court further observed⁴ that the United States Supreme Court case which established what has been called the “severability doctrine” was *Prima Paint Corp. v. Flood & Conklin Mfg. Co.*, 388 U.S. 395, 87 S. Ct. 1801 (1967).

However, and contrary to Petitioners’ arguments, this “severability doctrine” has its nuances, and one of them is front and center in the instant case where Respondent has ceaselessly contended, from within the *Amended Complaint* until now, that both the arbitration provision and the whole contract housing it are void and non-existent due to lack of court authority pursuant to W.Va. Code §37-1-2. At a minimum, this equates to a “lack of capacity” attack per *Parsons*.

In *Buckeye Check Cashing, Inc. v. Cardegna*, the United States Supreme Court stated:

Prima Paint and *Southland* answer the question presented here by establishing three propositions. First, as a matter of substantive federal arbitration law, an arbitration provision is severable from the remainder of the contract. Second, unless the challenge is to the arbitration clause itself, **the issue of the contract's validity is considered by the arbitrator in the first instance**. Third, this arbitration law applies in state as well as federal courts. The parties have not requested, and we do not undertake, reconsideration of those holdings. (bold and underline added.)

546 U.S. 440, 445-446, 126 S. Ct. 1204, 1209 (2006).

But, and of great importance for our purposes, the federal High Court clarified:

The issue of the contract's validity is different from the issue whether any agreement between the alleged obligor and obligee was ever concluded. Our opinion today addresses only the former, and does not speak to the issue decided in the cases cited by respondents (and by the Florida Supreme Court), which hold that it is for courts to decide whether the alleged obligor ever signed the contract, *Chastain v. Robinson-Humphrey Co.*, 957 F.2d 851 (CA11 1992), whether the signor lacked authority to commit the alleged principal, *Sandvik AB v. Advent Int'l Corp.*, 220 F.3d 99 (CA3 2000); *Sphere Drake Ins. Ltd. v. All American Ins. Co.*, 256 F.3d 587 (CA7 2001), and whether the signor lacked the mental capacity to assent, *Spahr v. Secco*, 330 F.3d 1266 (CA10 2003).

546 U.S. 440, 444, 126 S. Ct. 1204, 1208.

⁴ ...at 243 W. Va. 31, 43, 842 S.E.2d 235, 247.

While this statement is easy enough to grasp, an examination of the cases cited by *Buckeye* makes it abundantly clear that a contention that the overall contract housing the arbitration provision never came into existence presents an issue for the court, not an arbitrator, to resolve.

In *Sandvik AB v. Advent Int'l Corp* the party challenging the arbitration provision contended that the whole contract, including the arbitration provision, did not exist because its agent that signed it did not have the authority to do so. The court provided the following judicial insights.

Importantly, as discussed further below, *Prima Paint's* holding addressed the effect of fraud in the inducement claims. It did not grapple with what is to be done when a party contends not that the underlying contract is merely voidable, but rather that no contract ever existed.

220 F.3d 99 (3rd Cir. 2000).

Mindful of the doctrine announced in *Prima Paint*, which did not consider a situation in which the existence of the underlying contract was at issue, we draw a distinction between contracts that are asserted to be "void" or non-existent, as is contended here, and those that are merely "voidable," as was the contract at issue in *Prima Paint*, for purposes of evaluating whether the making of an arbitration agreement is in dispute.

220 F.3d 99, 107.

The end result was the determination that the court itself would preside over the resolution of the issue of whether the agent did or did not have proper authority to enter into the contract after all.

Id.

In accord with this principle (which is obviously the reason for *Buckeye's* cite to it) is *Chastain v. Robinson-Humphrey Co.*, where the 11th Circuit Court of Appeals stated, "*Prima Paint* has never been extended to require arbitrators to adjudicate a party's contention, supported by substantial evidence, that a contract *never existed at all.*" 957 F.2d 851, 855 (11th Cir. 1992). As *Buckeye* noted, the issue in *Chastain* was whether the person entering into the contract had the

authority to do so, which of course is what Respondent too is essentially contending. As the *Chastain* court found, it was the trial court's role and not an arbitrator's to determine whether that authority existed.

In *Spahr v. Secco*, also cited by *Buckeye*, the 10th Circuit Court of Appeals addressed the scenario where the party against whom the arbitration provision was asserted claimed a lack of mental capacity to enter into the whole contract and its arbitration provision singularly speaking. Again, in ruling that the issue was one for the trial court to resolve, the appellate court emphasized, "We [] hold that the rule announced in *Prima Paint* does not extend to a case where a party challenges a contract on the basis that the party lacked the mental capacity to enter into a contract." 330 F.3d 1266, 1272 (10th Cir. 2003).

We hold that Spahr's mental incapacity defense naturally goes to both the entire contract and the specific agreement to arbitrate in the contract. Therefore, Spahr's claim that he lacked the mental capacity to enter into an enforceable contract placed the "making" of an agreement to arbitrate at issue under § 4 of the FAA.

330 F.3d 1266, 1273.

A recognition of these principles guts Petitioners' argument over the "severability doctrine's" ramifications. As discussed below, under any analysis Respondent has met its challenge burden. However, before we get there a discussion of W.Va. Code §37-1-2 is fitting.

C. W.Va. Code §37-1-2 And Its Mandatory, Vital and Continuing Importance.

West Virginia Code §37-1-2 has been part of our law for well over a century and it focuses specifically upon our scenario whereby a minor's trustee and "interested" gas and mineral corporations wish to enter into contracts encumbering the minor's land. In its fullness, and in obliging the contracting parties to obtain court approval as a prerequisite to having an effective agreement, the statute reads:

If the guardian of any minor, or the committee of any insane person or convict, think that the interest of the ward or insane person or convict will be promoted by a lease or by a mortgage or by a trust deed upon or by a sale of his estates, or of an estate in which he is interested with others, infants or adults; **or if the trustee of any estate, or any person interested in any estate in trust, whether he be interested with others or not, think the interest of those for whom the estate is held will be promoted by a lease of the same, mortgage or trust deed upon the same, or a sale thereof; such guardian, committee, trustee, or beneficiary, whether the estate of the minor or insane person or convict, or any of the persons interested, be absolute or limited, and whether there be or be not limited thereon any other estate, vested or contingent, and whether the guardian, committee or trustee, or the minor, insane person, convict, or any of the persons interested, reside in this State or not, may, for the purpose of obtaining such sale, lease, mortgage or trust deed, file a bill in equity in the circuit court of the county in which the estate proposed to be leased, sold or encumbered by mortgage or trust deed or some part thereof may be, stating plainly all of the estate, real and personal, belonging to such infant or insane person or convict, or so held in trust, and all of the facts calculated to show the propriety of the sale, lease, mortgage, or trust deed.** The bill shall be verified by the oath of the plaintiff; and the infant or insane person or convict, or the beneficiaries in such trust, when not plaintiffs, and all others interested, shall be made defendants. **The word “lease” as used in this article shall include any mining or timber lease or any lease of any profit in land,** and the word “sale” shall include the sale of any undivided interest, or any part of the corpus of land, or anything in or growing upon land. (bold added)

In calling for the full disclosure of a minor’s estate implicated by the pending deal, in requiring the provision of “all of the facts calculated to show the propriety of the [contract],” by requiring the bill in equity, i.e., the petition, to be verified, and by compelling the petitioner to make all interested parties defendants, this court approval process can hardly be characterized as a perfunctory rubber stamp. The Legislature made it a sincere and serious process, for obvious reasons.

All of the contracts underlying Mason Cottrell’s claims against all the corporate/company defendants fall squarely within the expressed reach of this statute. In denial of this, latching on to the statute’s use of the word “may”, Petitioners deny that the court approval prescribed by the statute is mandatory. They further argue that the absence of specific reference to “arbitration” in this centenarian statute, despite all else respecting court oversight of post-transaction matters,

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